

Rule Book

www.howardpalmetto.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	
OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS	2
BASEBALL RULES COMMITTEE	2
INTRODUCTION	
RULE 1: REGISTRATION	3
RULE 2: DIVISIONS	4
RULE 3: PLAYER RATINGS	3
RULE 4: THE DRAFT	
RULE 5: PLAYER POOL	
RULE 6: STATUS OF PLAYERS	10
RULE 7: PRACTICES	
RULE 8: RULES GOVERNING PLAY	11
RULE 9: THE PLAYING FIELD	
RULE 10: UMPIRES	
RULE 11: PROTESTS	
RULE 12: CONDUCT	14
RULE: 13 PLAYING SCHEDULE	17
RULE 14: EQUIPMENT AND UNIFORMS	20
RULE 15: PLAYERS AND SUBSTITUTIONS	
RULE 16: THE GAME	25
RULE 17: PITCHING REGULATIONS	28
RULE 18: BASERUNNING	
RULE 19: BATTING	31
RULE 20: T-BALL TITANS	32
RULE 21: ATOM COACH PITCH	
RULE 22: BANTAM	35
AWARDS	36

PREAMBLE

Howard Palmetto Baseball Softball Association (HPBSA) is committed to providing community recreational baseball. All children are welcome and encouraged to play regardless of their experience or level of skill. HPBSA is a volunteer not-for-profit organization in operation since 1962. We look forward to another year of continued success, as we share the ideals of good sportsmanship and fair play to another generation of kids. Many rules have been modified in a continuing effort to make the playing environment competitive, enjoyable, and safe. These rules are to serve as a guideline for league play. We hope to have created a competitive and still fun environment. Good luck to all teams! Play hard, play by the rules, demonstrate good sportsmanship, and enjoy your time with friends and family. Play Ball!

OFFICERS & DIRECTORS

Position	Email
President	president@howardpalmetto.com
Immediate Past President	pastpresident@howardpalmetto.com
Registrar	registrar@howardpalmetto.com
Treasurer	treasurer@howardpalmetto.com
Baseball Commissioner	commissioner@howardpalmetto.com
Umpires Baseball Junior Division	juniorumpires@howardpalmetto.com
Umpires Baseball Senior Division	seniorumpires@howardpalmetto.com
5U T-Ball Titans	tball@howardpalmetto.com
7U Atom Coach Pitch	atomvp@howardpalmetto.com
9U Bantams	bantamvp@howardpalmetto.com
11U Midgets	midgetvp@howardpalmetto.com
17U Juvenile	juvenilevp@howardpalmetto.com
Aces Commissioner	aces@howardpalmetto.com

Individual names and phone numbers are available on the league website; www.howardpalmetto.com

INTRODUCTION

The President, Baseball Commissioners, Vice-Presidents and Immediate Past President are charged with the full responsibility and total authority of league play. Each manager shall acquaint the players, coaches, sponsors, parents, spectators, etc. with the rules by which our league will operate. Ignorance shall not be accepted as an excuse for any violation of the Official Major League Baseball Rules, Official USSSA Rules, or the Howard Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association Rules.

RULE 1: REGISTRATION

The League Commissioners will evaluate the number of fields available to determine the number of players that each division can accommodate. Players who have registered in the previous year in the league will have priority in being assigned to teams; said priority expires on the last day of pre-registration. Extra players will be placed on the wait list based on their date of registration (last to register will be first to be placed on wait list). Players may be moved by the League to upper or lower

divisions based on skill level and number of registered players in each division. Registration fees are refundable prior to each division's draft. Once the draft has taken place full refunds are no longer available.

RULE 2: DIVISIONS

The players will be divided into divisions according to their age as of Sept. 1st in the year preceding the season:

BASEBALL DIVISIONS

5 & Under	T-Ball Titans	as of Sept. 1st
7 & Under	Atom Coach Pitch	as of Sept. 1st
9 & Under	Bantam	as of Sept. 1st
11 & Under	Midget	as of Sept. 1st
12 & Up	Juvenile	as of Sept. 1st

Example: a player has a birthday of November 1st, 2012. If they were playing in the 2022 season, their age on September 1st, 2021 was 8 and they would play in the Bantam division. All children must play in the division determined by the above chart. Exceptions to this rule will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by the HPBSA Division Vice-Presidents and Commissioner.

RULE 3: PLAYER RATINGS

- New Players and Returning Players All boys and girls will be evaluated by the appropriate Division Vice President with the assistance of the league Commissioner. All managers of record at the time of evaluation must be notified of the time and place of the evaluations. Players will receive a rating for draft purposes.
 - (a) All applicants for the Atom Coach Pitch Division will be rated in all categories except PITCHING.

Rating Format

- (a) INFORMATION SECTION
- 1. Player's name.
- 2. Date of birth.
- 3. Age on Sep. 1st.
- 4. Grade.

(b) RATING SECTION

(1) ALL DIVISIONS (except T-Ball)

a. <u>Offense</u>: Numerical grades to be compiled as follows:

(1) Batting: 1 –10 (2) Power: 0 – 2

b. <u>Defense</u>: numerical grades to be compiled as follows:

(1) Fielding: 1 – 7 (2) Throwing: 1 – 5

Other: numerical grades to be compiled as follows:

(1) All Around Speed: 1-5(2) Baseball Knowledge: 1-3d. TOTAL POINTS: 5-32

- 2. Player ratings will be based on a bell curve in each of the offensive, defensive and general categories. For example, in baseball, the BEST batter or hitters would be given a numerical grade of 8-10; all others within that division would be evaluated based on that player's abilities and graded accordingly. Each of the other categories, power, fielding, throwing, all around speed and baseball knowledge, will be evaluated based on the best player at that skill.
- 3. Pitching All Bantam and above players will be rated in pitching prior to the draft. Their pitching skills will be evaluated and given a score from 1 to 6 (highest rating). If such a player or his parents decline this request to be so rated, the player will automatically be considered as a "NO PITCH" at the coming draft. All Baseball players who have requested that they not be selected as pitchers for the purposes of the draft, along with the players whose parents request that their children not be selected as pitchers in the draft, will NOT be permitted to pitch under any circumstances during the current season. (HPBSA play, regular and post season). All requests for no pitch status must be verified by the Division Vice President prior to the draft.
- 4. Prior to the draft of teams for the new season, each Division Vice President will collate all scores in their respective division for each player. This overall score (TOTAL POINTS) from the evaluation form Rating Section, along with the Information Section and Pitching rating, will be made available to all managers in the division at least one (1) day prior to the draft.
- **5.** The Division Vice President will indicate on the evaluation form those players who played in the league during the previous season.

RULE 4: THE DRAFT

1. All divisions will conduct a draft. Each manager or appointed representative should be present at the

draft. The Division Vice President, Commissioner or designated league representative may select teams in the absence of a manager or representative. No team will be selected if a manager has not been assigned to it. If there is an insufficient number of managers by the final date for drafting (as designated by the League Commissioner), the last registered players will be placed in the Player Pool. NOTE: Only one (1) representative shall be present per team.

2. Rules of the Draft:

- (a) No individual may manage more than one team or be a coach who in actuality is managing said team unless prior approval is received from the Executive Committee.
- **(b)** The sons, daughters, or family related members (brother/sisters) of managers are restricted to selection by their parent or relative. These players cannot be chosen by another manager without the approval of the relative-manager.
- **(c)** No special requests may be initiated on the night of the draft.
- (d) Co-managers are not permitted under any circumstances. However, a Manager may declare that they will coach with an Assistant Coach ahead of the draft. The Assistant Coach's child must be drafted by that Manager in the appropriate round per their rating. If both the Manager and Assistant Coach's children are rated as first round draft picks, then that team does not get a third-round pick and must pick two players in the 6th round.
- **(e)** Anyone choosing to coach in a division in which they have a child playing must coach on that child's team.
- **(f)** It is the Division Vice President's duty to notify the managers of any injuries reported to him/her prior to the draft.
- (g) Draft numbers will be selected individually by managers during a blind drawing on the day of the draft. DRAFT NUMBERS CANNOT BE TRADED. The draft will be started by the manager who drew "1" and will move in sequence to the highest number in the draft. The second round will start with the highest number in the draft working backwards to number "1". The process will continue until the draft is completed. With an odd number of players, the order of the last round will be reversed.
- (h) The first round draft in all divisions, except Atom Coach Pitch will be for pitchers who must come from the isolated list. (NOTE: The pitching list may be waived only by a unanimous vote of the Managers, subject to the approval of the League Commissioner,

or his representative and the respective Division Vice President.) The Division Vice President will isolate the top rated pitchers in the division. All "4", "5" and "6" rated pitchers will be on the pitching list, regardless of the number of teams in the division. In the event there are not enough "4", "5" and "6" rated pitchers for all teams to make a selection from the pitching list, the "3" rated pitchers will be added to this list. If any of these pitchers is designated as a "1-inning" pitcher, they will be identified as such and moved to the bottom of the pitchers list, but not removed from the list and are available to be selected in the first round (not applicable to Juveniles division). Any manager's child who is on this isolated list as a "3-inning" pitcher must be drafted in the first round by that manager. If any manager's child is isolated as a "1-inning" pitcher, they will NOT be required to be drafted in the 1st round, but they will be required to be selected in the next available round. This will be the 2nd round unless there are combined divisions in which case the next available round may be later (see Rule 4.3 below).

- (i) All Managers whose child is listed on the isolated pitching list will be assigned a pick in the draft relative to the pitching and overall rating along with inning designation of his child before the drawing of draft numbers and in a sequence as follows:
 - All players listed on the isolated pitching list will be sorted by pitching inning designation (either 3 or 1-inning).
 - **II.** Within each group, the players will be sorted by pitching rating (6, 5, 4 and if necessary, 3).
 - **III.** Within each of the pitching ratings the players will be sorted by overall rating, highest to lowest. (Theoretically this is the sequence of the first round of a draft.)
 - IV. Managers with a child on the isolated pitching list will then be assigned their draft pick number according to the placement of their child on the list. If a manager's child is on the isolated list but their rating places them below the number of teams in the draft, they will automatically pick last in the first round (or just before any manager(s) with a 1-inning pitcher).
 - V. Any manager with a child in the "1-inning" pitchers group will be given the last pick of the pitching round. If there is more than one manager with a "1-inning" pitcher, the highest pitching rating then overall rating will be last followed by the next highest and so on.
 - VI. Should there be a tie among players, the manager will draw from the draft pick numbers of those players tied with his/her child.

- (j) If there are two siblings or family members that are isolated in the draft and must be placed on the same team and both players have each received pitching rankings of a "6, 5, or 4", then the following conditions will be made in order to maintain the competitive balance of the division:
 - I. The second sibling or family member to be drafted must be immediately selected in the first round for which his age group is available regardless of whether there are players available with a higher overall ranking.
 - II. Additional restrictions and limitations on the number of pitches and/or the number of innings the two players can pitch will be made. The specific restrictions and limitations are set forth in Rule 17 Pitching Regulations. Note: The restrictions and limitations regarding the number of pitches and/or the number of innings are subject to waiver by the Division Vice President and League Commissioner and if the managers of the division agree to the waiver by majority vote. Any proposed waiver of the restrictions and limitations and the vote by the managers must take place prior to the blind drawing determining the draft order of the teams.
- (k) Atom Coach Pitch, the first round of the draft will NOT be for pitching. If a manager's child is rated as a 1st round pick relative to the number of teams in the division, then this manager must draft their child in the first round and will be assigned a draft pick based on this slotting. The manager will be assigned a draft number by the Division Vice President identical to the position of his/her child on the draft list. For example, if the child were the fourth (4) highest rated player on the draft list of 8 teams, the manager will draft in the fourth (4) position. If the manager's child is tied with one or more other players, the Manager shall select his/her position from a sequence of selections equal to the number of players in the tied spots by blind drawing. For example, if the child and another player are tied for the fourth (4) best rating, then the manager will pick from either the fourth or fifth spots. If two or more Manager's children are tied for the last rating in the first round, they will all be drafted in the first round.
- (I) Managers with a child not on an isolated pitching list or designated as a first round pick may select their child at any time, but they may not chose a player with a rating equal to or lower than their child until they have selected their child. For example, a manager's child is classified with a rating of "12". In each round of the draft they may choose any player with a rating higher

than "12" or their own child, but they cannot select a "12" or lower rated player until after they have selected their child.

- (m) All teams will be restricted to a MAXIMUM of eleven (11) players per team in all divisions at the time of the draft.
- (n) Trades between managers are permitted with prior approval of the Division Vice President and League Commissioner or his delegate. Coaches or representatives are not permitted to participate in player trades. All trades must be concluded no later than one (I) hour following the completion of the draft. No manager may participate in a trade once he/she has left the draft meeting. Trades beyond that time are prohibited.
- (o) Managers must contact players selected by them by telephone or in person within 48 hours following the draft. Players refusing to play for the manager who selects them in the draft will be dropped from the Baseball-Softball Association roster. If possible, a player from the pool with a similar numerical grade will be assigned to the manager by the Division Vice President, after the approval of the League Commissioner.
- **(p)** Any restrictions or representations relating to the pitching limitations on a player (i.e. limited pitch count or limited number of innings pitched) made prior to the draft will be strictly enforced. Penalty: Team will forfeit any game where the restriction was violated.
- 3. COMBINED DIVISION. In the event a single baseball division is formed by combining two school years of players (for example, a Midget division consisting of both 5th and 6th grade players), the draft may be conducted as follows at the discretion of the Division VP and Commissioner:
 - (a) The first round of the draft will be from the isolated pitcher's list.
 - **(b)** The second and third rounds will be restricted to "upper grade" level players.
 - **(c)** The fourth (4), fifth (5), and sixth (6) rounds will be restricted to "lower grade" level players. Any remaining players may be selected on any of the subsequent rounds.
 - (d) If the pitching list is waived, then the first three (3) rounds shall be restricted to "upper grade" level players, with the subsequent rounds as described above.

RULE 5: PLAYER POOL

Those players registering late and extra players from the

initial registration period will be placed in a pool maintained by the Vice President of each division.

- 1. The Registrar shall notify the appropriate Division Vice President as new players are registered, and the Vice President shall evaluate these players as soon as possible.
- 2. The names of the players in the pool, and their numerical grades, will be strictly confidential and shall not be made available to managers and/or coaches until a player is placed on a team.
- **3.** The pool players will be evaluated separately from those players on the active players list.
- 4. Players may be assigned to teams with vacancies by the Division Vice President after approval by the League Commissioner. All player assignments must be immediately communicated to the applicable division managers by the Vice President when a decision has been made about any player.
- Such assignments are to be premised upon the numerical grade of the player being replaced and the numerical grade and date of registration of the player being assigned.
- **6.** All decisions of the Division Vice President and League Commissioner are final.

RULE 6: STATUS OF PLAYERS

- 1. No manager or coach will be permitted to drop a player from a roster under any circumstances without prior approval of the Division Vice President and the League Commissioner. Repeated absences from games or practices without a legitimate excuse, or a serious behavior problem, are sufficient cause for a manager to request that a player be dropped from the team roster. In order to drop such a player, however, both the player and his parents must have been warned about the possible consequence by both the manager and the Division Vice President. If the warning does not result in an adequate improvement in the player's attendance and/or behavior, the manager may request a decision from the Disciplinary Review Committee. The manager must also notify the parents that he/she is initiating such a request. Subsequently, the Division Vice President must personally inform the parents as to the decision of the Committee.
- Players who drop out will not be allowed to play the following season unless exempted by the Disciplinary Review Committee or Commissioner based on extraordinary circumstances. The Registrar will be notified accordingly.

RULE 7: PRACTICES

- 1. It is the policy of the Howard Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association to discourage daily mandatory practices. Up to three practices per week prior to the start of the season and one or two practices per week once the games commence would be considered reasonable. Managers must meet with the parents at the start of the season to discuss mutual expectations and develop a cooperative spirit. Prior to the start of the regular season, Division Vice Presidents will assign to each manager a practice schedule for use of the Park(s) fields. Teams must be ready to take the field, under proper supervision by a manager or a coach, in order to utilize these facilities. All fields will be policed for trash following practice. Utilization of fields is a privilege and can be taken away.
- 2. No practices will be allowed on fields or in areas that interfere with or cause a possible danger to participants in an official game in progress and/or the spectators attending that game. The umpire and/or league official will be responsible for determining the possible danger and taking the necessary action to remedy the problem. If a manager or coach refuses to comply with a request from an authorized official, he will be subject to action by the Disciplinary Review Committee.
- 3. At Suniland Park, whenever games are in progress on fields 2 and 3, only practice drills that can be safely controlled in the open grass areas will be allowed and no teams may engage in batting practice except in the batting cages.
- 4. At all Parks where games are being played, for 1 hour prior to scheduled league baseball games, teams scheduled to play will have priority for the use of the batting cages. If there are more teams scheduled to play games then there are cages at the particular park, managers and coaches shall share the cages with all teams scheduled to play games so that every player has an opportunity to participate in batting practice prior to their scheduled game. Managers and/or coaches who do not cooperate and share the batting cages with other teams scheduled to play a game shall be reported to the Division Vice President and the League Commissioner.
- **5.** There shall be no practices scheduled during the annual picnic.

RULE 8: RULES GOVERNING PLAY

The Howard-Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association Rules along with the Official Major League Baseball

Rules and USSSA Baseball Rules (provided said rules are not at variance with any HPBSA Rules) will govern play for all HPBSA divisions.

RULE 9: THE PLAYING FIELD

 The pitching distances and the distances between bases for each division are as follows:

Division	Mound to Plate (ft)	Bases (ft)
Titans (T-Ball)	N/A	55'
Atom Coach Pitch (7U)	N/A	55'
Bantam (9U)	46'	60'
Midget (11U)	50'	70'
Juveniles (17U)	60'	90'

^{*} The baseball mounds of 46', 50' and 60' will be raised (not height specific)

- 2. Written description of ground rules affecting play at all baseball and softball fields shall be drafted by the League Commissioner and Chief of Umpires and distributed to each Division Vice President.
- 3. As per County rules and regulations, "Hit down drills" (hitting balls into any fence) are not permitted with any ball other than a tennis or soft rubber ball. Violation of this rule could result in action by the disciplinary committee.
- **4.** The home team will occupy the third base dugout or bench at all fields.
- 5. The playability of the field for a game shall be decided by the Park Personnel in conjunction with the Umpire, League Commissioner, and/or league representative.
- 6. If any base or pitcher's plate is discovered to have been incorrectly placed during the course of a game, it shall be immediately corrected, and play will continue. No parts of the game will be replayed because of such error.
- 7. A "Safety Base" may be used at first base to prevent collisions between base runner and fielders for Atom and Bantam games. If a safety base is not used for a game, the game will be played using a standard base.

RULE 10: UMPIRES

- 1. The umpires are the representatives of the league and as such are authorized and required to enforce all playing rules by which our league will operate.
- 2. There shall be no appeal from any decision of any umpire on the grounds that he/she was not correct in his/her conclusion as to whether a batted ball was fair or foul, a base runner safe or out, a pitched ball a strike or ball or any other play involving accuracy or judgment, and no decision rendered by any umpire shall be reversed except that he/she be convinced it is in violation of a rule.
- 3. In all divisions, umpires are required to obtain an official game day lineup sheet (Rule 16, item 5) from each team which identifies all of the players present for the game and shall submit the lineups to the concession stand. The Division Vice President is expected to pick up the lineups and review them to ensure that all managers and players are complying with the league's attendance rules.

RULE 11: PROTESTS

- A protest can only be lodged regarding a violation of the playing rules in use during the current season. No protest shall be permitted on judgment decisions by the umpire.
- 2. Only the manager or acting manager is allowed to register a protest on the field of play. The umpire in charge must be notified immediately of the protest. Such notification must be delivered to him/her prior to the next pitch being thrown in the game. If this does not occur, the protest will not be allowed. If there is a protest on the last play of the game, the protest must be lodged immediately.
- **3.** The home team scorekeeper shall indicate the exact position of the game (i.e., number of outs, players on base, next batter, time of protest, etc.).
- **4.** At the time the umpire-in-charge is advised of the protest, he/she must immediately advise the opposing manager, as well as the scorekeepers, that the game is being played under protest.
- **5.** The umpire will suspend the game time clock during the notification and recording of a protest.
- 6. After the completion of a protested game, the protesting manager must put in writing the rule and section under protest as well as all the facts and exact conditions at the time of the protest. This written protest must be delivered to a member of the Protest Committee who shall be the League Commissioner (Chairperson), the Division Vice President, and the Tournament Director not later than

48 hours after the completion of the protested game. If any of the Committee members is directly involved in the protest, the League President shall be substituted as the third member of the Committee. A protest fee of \$25.00 must accompany each protest. This fee will be refunded if the protest is upheld; if not, the fee will go into the league's general fund.

- 7. The Protest Committee will notify the opposing manager and the umpire-in-charge of the game within 72 hours of the filed protest. The Committee will request from these individuals, within 72 hours after notification of filed protest, a written statement explaining their position and a summary of the protest as they saw it.
- 8. All decisions of the Protest Committee will be final. No further discussion will be permitted after the decision is rendered. The Committee has the authority to call before them any individuals they feel can add information to assist the Committee in arriving at a decision.
- **9.** The League Commissioner has the right to discipline any manager or acting manager who protests in an indiscriminate manner.
- 10. If the Protest Committee finds that a ruling in favor of the protest would not have made a difference in the outcome of the game, IT MAY DENY THE PROTEST.
- 11. If the protest is upheld, the Protest Committee will determine at what point play will resume. When the protested game is rescheduled, the lineups and substitutions will be subject to the same rules as a suspended game.
- **12.** A protest of any violation of the Baseball-Softball Association rules governing player eligibility may be filed by any registered manager or coach of a bona fide Baseball-Softball Association team. An eligibility protest of this type shall apply only to a player not properly registered, a player registered with more than one team, or a player not meeting the division's requirements.
- 13. To handle protests that may occur during play-off, league championship or tournament games, the respective Commissioner may appoint a Protest Committee to be present at the field to resolve, on the spot, any protests that may occur.

RULE 12: CONDUCT

The Howard Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association is committed to creating and maintaining an environment

based on principles of sportsmanship and fair play and it will not tolerate conduct on the part of its managers, coaches, spectators and/or players which it deems to be contrary to those principles. Accordingly, the Association has established and will strictly enforce the following Rules of Conduct.

- 1. A Disciplinary Review Committee will be established to consist of the President (Chairperson), League Commissioner and the Division Vice President of the division involved in the disciplinary action. The Committee will act on suspensions and review possible disciplinary actions against managers, coaches, and players. The Committee may appoint a member or members of the League to said Committee as needed in order to establish an equitable decision on the matter.
- 2. Managers and Coaches During a game, a team is limited to one manager and three coaches (including the scorekeeper). All managers and coaches are urged to remain in the dugout except for the purpose coaching first or third base. All managers and coaches must stay off the playing field and must remain behind the out-of-play line. Managers and/or coaches who violate this rule may receive one warning and upon a second violation may be ejected The team manager or acting from the game. manager is the only team representative who is permitted to approach an umpire to contest any ruling. Managers and/or coaches who violate this rule shall be ejected from the game. At the discretion of the umpire, any manager or coach who demonstrates unsportsmanlike conduct may be immediately ejected from the game or will receive one warning, and upon the second violation, shall be ejected from the game. If any ejection occurs during the last inning of any game, the ejection shall be effective for the next succeeding game scheduled for that individual's team. Unsportsmanlike conduct will include, but not be limited to, the use of profanity, the continued harassment of a player, umpire, spectator, or league official. The Association strictly prohibits managers and coaches from using physical contact as a means of disciplining a player. A manager or coach who violates this rule shall be suspended from all Association activities for two weeks subject to further action and/or review by the Disciplinary Review Committee. All ejections will be made by the umpire. Any coach or manager ejected two (2) times during any one playing season is automatically suspended from league participation, pending action by the Disciplinary Review Committee. All ejections of managers or coaches will be reviewed by the Disciplinary Review Committee to determine if any further disciplinary action is warranted and the nature thereof. Smoking is not permitted on any portion of

- the playing field and dugout during league and tournament games. Managers and coaches must wear proper attire while on the field. They are encouraged to wear the shirts issued to them by the league. All equipment must also be in the dugout.
- 3. Players All players should be warned by the manager that ejection is possible if they intentionally throw batting helmets or bats. The use of profanity by players under any circumstances may be cause immediate ejection. Players unsportsmanlike conduct will be subject to immediate ejection from the game. If such conduct occurs after the completion of a game, but before a player has left the playing field or the immediate area of the field including the stands, the umpires in their judgment are authorized to eject such players for the next scheduled game for that player's team. If any ejection occurs during the last inning of any game, the ejection shall be effective for the next succeeding game scheduled for that player's team. If any ejected player continues to display unsportsmanlike conduct justifying expulsion after having been already ejected and leaving the playing field, the umpire in his judgment may eject such player for the next succeeding game scheduled for that player's team. Any player ejected two (2) times in any one playing season is automatically suspended from league participation, pending action by the Disciplinary Review Committee. Any ejection of a player from a game will be reported within 24 hours to the Division Vice President by that player's manager and also to the Chief-of-Umpires by the game umpire, either of whom may refer the incident to the Disciplinary Review Committee for possible further disciplinary action. Any further disciplinary action must be taken by the Disciplinary Review Committee and communicated to the player and his manager prior to the second succeeding game after which the ejection Players cannot be suspended by a manager or coach without prior approval of the Disciplinary Review Committee. The Howard-Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association is a drug and alcohol abuse free organization. Any player found to be in possession of alcohol, drugs, or drug paraphernalia will be subject to action by the Disciplinary Review Committee.
- 4. Spectators In the event spectators become unruly and exhibit behavior detrimental to the league's sportsmanship objectives, the umpire will issue a warning to both managers who, in turn, will inform their team's spectators of the umpire's ability to suspend the game if the conduct of the spectators does not improve. Spectators shall refrain from the use of artificial noise-makers. If, in the judgment of the umpire, League Commissioner, or authorized

agents, the initial warning to the spectators is not sufficient, the game will be forfeited by the team with which the spectator is associated. Alcohol is strictly forbidden at all Division games. Any spectator found to be in possession of alcohol at a game will be asked to immediately leave the premises. Failure of the spectator to leave when requested by the umpire, League Commissioner, or authorized agents, shall result in the game being forfeited by the team with which the spectator is associated.

- 5. An ejected manager, coach or player may stay at the game and become a spectator provided they:
 - (a) Sit in the bleachers; and
 - (b) Not become unruly or exhibit behavior detrimental to the League's sportsmanship objectives.
 - (c) An ejected manager or coach may not in any way coach his/her team. PENALTY Forfeit by umpire's discretion.

RULE: 13 PLAYING SCHEDULE

- The playing schedule will be charted for each division, for the entire season prior to opening day or as close as reasonably possible. There will be no schedule changes. Any violations will be subject to forfeit by all teams involved.
- 2. All rained out or postponed games are to be rescheduled as soon as possible by the respective Division Vice President as close as possible to the date of the rained-out game. Failure of a Manager to cooperate in a timely manner with the Division VP in rescheduling the game, may result in a forfeit or double forfeit. Games may not be rescheduled where a pitcher would have pitch back to back days.
- Ideally, the schedule will provide for each team to play all other teams in their division at least twice. The League Commissioner may make exceptions to this rule.
- **4.** There will be no regular season inter-league play except by approval of the Executive Committee.
- 5. The playing season begins in January and continues through May. The regular season will be used to determine playoff seeding. Playoffs are to be played at the conclusion of the regular playing season.
- 6. Playoffs for all baseball divisions will use a <u>double elimination format</u> where all teams are in the playoffs. Seeding will be determined by the regular season record of all teams per division. The top 2 seeds will,

when possible, be given a first-round bye. Playoff brackets will be determined after registration is complete but before the season begins.

- 7. Procedure in case of ties: Two (2) or more teams with the identical final season record will use the following tiebreakers to determine seeding:
 - i. The tied team's head to head win/loss record.
 - The tied team's run differential against each other.
 - **iii.** Weighted strength of wins against all other teams.
 - iv. A random draw with performed by the division VP

Example: In an 8 team division teams **a**, **b** and **c** are all tied for 2nd place with the same 14-6 record. Teams **d** and **e** also have a tie for 5th place with 8-12 records.

Scenario i: Teams **a** and **c** played each other twice, splitting their games. Teams **a** and **b** played each other twice and also split, but teams **b** and **c** played three (3) times with **b** losing 2 of 3. Team **a** had a 2-2 head to head record, team **b** had a 2-3 head to head record and team **c** had a 3-2 head to head record. Seed 2 will go to team **c**, seed 3 to team **a** and seed 4 to team **b**.

Scenario ii: Teams **a**, **b** and **c** played each other twice and they all split. Their game scores are the following:

Team	Team	Score	Differential
а	b	6-5	a: +1, b: -1
а	b	4-7	a: -3, b: +3
а	С	3-9	a: -6, c: +6
а	С	13-9	a: +4, c: -4
b	С	2-0	b: +2, c: -2
b	С	4-3	b: -1, c: +1

Team **a** had a run differential of -4, team **b** had a run differential of +3, and team **c** had a run differential of +1. Seed 2 will go to team **b**, seed 3 to team **c** and seed 4 to team **a**.

Scenario iii: Teams **a**, **b** and **c** played each other twice and they all split. Their run differentials were also the same at +2. Points will be calculated against the other 5 teams in the division, giving weight to the higher finishing teams. All wins against the #1 team will be given 8 points, wins against the #5 and #6 teams (teams **d** and **e** are tied for 5th place) will be given 4 points, wins against the #7 team will be given 2 points and wins against the #8 team will be given 1 point. Team **a** has 24 points and is the 2 seed, team **b** has 21 points and is the 3 seed and team **c** has 20

points and is the 4 seed.

Scenario iv: The first three (3) tiebreakers do not resolve the tie, so the Division Vice President will have each manager draw a card (2,3,4). The team who draws the 2 will be the 2 seed, the team that draws the 3 will be the 3 seed and the team that draws the 4 will be the 4 seed.

8. Example playoff format for a 6 team division:



The top 2 finishing teams will receive a bye. Seed 3 will play seed 6 and seed 4 will play seed 5. Seed 1 will play the lowest seeded winner and seed 2 will play the other winner. Winning teams continue on in the winners' bracket. There will be a losers' bracket for all teams that lose a game. Once a team loses a second game they are eliminated. The team who comes out of the winners' bracket will play the team who survives the losers' bracket. If the loser bracket team wins this final game, a second game must be played to determine the overall champion (you must lose twice to be eliminated). The higher seed team will be the home team in all winners' and losers' bracket games. The winners' bracket team will be home team in the final game against the losers bracket with a coin flip in the 2nd championship game (if necessary). Brackets will be provided once the number of teams has been determined.

Final League Standings: (example with a 6-team division)

1st place: playoff champion 2nd place: finals losing team

3rd place: semi-final loser from the loser bracket 4th place: 2 quarter final losers to play for 4th place

(add'I game not shown above).

5th place: loser of 4th place game

6th place: first team eliminated

RULE 14: EQUIPMENT & UNIFORMS

Only official and legal bats will be allowed. A one-piece rubber grip and knob combination is illegal. Metal bats must have a non-metal grip. The batter is OUT if a ball is hit, either fair or foul, with an illegal bat. For T-ball through Midget Divisions bats must meet the USSSA formal 1.15 BPF standard (allowing diameters of up to 2¾").

In the Juvenile Division, batters can only use bats that are BBCOR certified and bear the "BBCOR Certified .50" mark certification logo. If the logo does not appear on the bat, then it is considered an illegal bat. Any deviation from this rule in the Juvenile Division must be approved by the Division Vice President ahead of the first game. If the batter in the Juvenile Division steps into the batter's box with an illegal bat, he will be immediately ejected from the current game and will be suspended from the next game.

- **2.** A standard fielder's glove may be worn by any player, but mitts may be used only by the Catcher and First Baseman.
- 3. In all divisions, male catchers must wear hard cups. No players will be allowed to catch if they do not wear a hard cup. A forfeit shall be declared if a cup is not available for either team's catcher. If neither team is able to obtain a cup for their catcher, a double forfeit will be declared. This equipment is the responsibility of the individual player.
- 4. Catchers must wear headgear (mask and helmet) that protects the ears and back of the head. Throat protectors are necessary and mandatory for all catchers, and headgear (mask, helmet, and throat protector) must be worn by every player when warming up a pitcher. This equipment will be supplied by HPBSA or a catcher may use their own equipment so long as it meets the requirements. It is the responsibility of the manager to get proper fitting equipment. PENALTY The player must be removed from the catching position for the remainder of the game.
- 5. Batters must wear headgear that protects both ears and the back of the head. Each player is responsible to have their own helmet. Batting helmets will also be used for base running, on-deck areas, and for players coaching bases, and must be shared if necessary. In T-Ball Titans, Atoms and Bantams, facemasks are required. In Midgets and Juveniles, helmets must be fitted a C-Flap protector (full

facemasks are a suitable substitute). If a batter or runner intentionally removes or dislodges his/her headgear while a base runner or while a play is being made on this player either as a batter or a runner, he/she shall be declared OUT. The helmet may be removed only when time is out. NOTE: Whether the act is intentional is a judgment call by the umpire.

- 6. The home team will be required to furnish balls for each game, which will be returned to them after the game. In all divisions two (2) new official baseballs will be required.
- 7. No players will be permitted to deface their Official HPBSA uniform in any manner, and all players must wear their complete team uniform properly at all times. The uniform includes pants, shirt, and hat. In cold weather, sweatshirts and jackets can be worn (Pitchers may wear jackets when running the bases). PENALTY: 1st infraction player receives warning, which shall be entered in scorebook, 2nd and subsequent infractions player not permitted to play (unless it will result in a forfeit). Umpire shall report infractions to Chief of Umpires.
- **8.** A pitcher's sweatshirt or undershirt, if showing, must be uniform in color and may not be white or grey. Pitchers shall not wear any type of sweat band and/or batting glove while pitching. Pitchers may not use white or grey gloves.
- 9. Shoes with metal spikes, metal cleats, or screw- on cleats are strictly prohibited on players in all divisions (except the Juvenile Division). Conversion cleats that are made completely of rubber and are attached to the shoe using a tiny screw are not considered to be screw on cleats. PENALTY The player shall be warned. If it happens again, the player will be ejected.
- 10. For safety and injury prevention, no players shall be allowed to play if they are wearing casts, splints, or other type of hard foreign objects. Soft bandages will be permitted. Also, jewelry, including metal stars, pins and emblems, must not be worn during a game, except for a medic alert necklace/bracelet. Exceptions must not be worn outside the jersey and must be taped down to the body. Players in violation, after a warning, will not be allowed to play.
- **11.** If names are put on the back of a player's uniform it must be the player's last name.

RULE 15: PLAYERS AND SUBSTITUTIONS

1. A team shall consist of nine (9) players in the Midget,

and Juvenile Divisions, nine (9) or ten (10) in the Bantams and ten (10) players in the Atom Coach Pitch Division. **Total number of players assigned to teams in each division may vary based on the number of registered players for that year.

Teams will be permitted to start a game with eight players. Such a game will start on time; waiting for the additional player (i.e., using the 15 minute "grace" period") will not be allowed. The location of the missing players on the field will be left up to the discretion of the manager of the team involved. A player shall be considered late if he/she has just arrived at the park and is not within the confines of the field (i.e., inside the fence or dugout) prior to game time. A manager will be permitted to insert a late arriving player in the 9/10th position providing the player arrives prior to the end of the third (3) inning. A player who is present earlier in the game but does not enter it at that time because of not feeling well will be considered the same as a late arriving player. Ejections occurring when no substitutes are available will result in an automatic forfeit by the team involved if they cannot field a minimum of 8 players.

- 2. A forfeit shall be declared if either team is unable to field a minimum of 8 players <u>fifteen minutes</u> after the scheduled starting time or at any time during the game, unless due to injury per Rule 16.7. If neither team is able to field a minimum of 8 players, a double forfeit will be declared.
- 3. Batting Substitutions All teams shall have their players bat in rotation throughout the game even though they are not playing in the field. A player who arrives after the game begins, but before the end of the third (3) inning, will be considered the last batter in the line-up even if the home team has not batted. The inning ends when the third out is called. If the late arriving player is inserted in the batting order incorrectly, penalty for such action is forfeit for illegal substitution.
- **4. Fielding Substitutions** In ALL DIVISIONS, no player may remain on the bench for two consecutive defensive innings including extra innings.
 - Atom Coach Pitch no player may be on the bench for more than one (1) inning and players must be alternated each inning during any extra innings played.
 - Bantams, Midgets & Juveniles no player may remain on the bench for more than two (2) innings per game in regulation games. Players may sit a third time during extra innings (still not two in a row).

Violations of these rules shall constitute an illegal

substitution. Except to replace players lost due to injury, disciplinary ejections or pitching substitutions, absolutely no fielding substitutions may be made, from the bench, during a half-inning. In other words, if a player is put on the bench during the defensive half of an inning, he/she may not enter the game as a substitute during that half inning. (Exception - as provided in Rule 15.6 - Disciplinary Substitutions, Rule 15.7 - Injury Substitutions and Rule 15.8 - Pitching Substitutions). PENALTY for illegal substitution: Game will be forfeited. Players arriving after completion of the third (3rd) inning will not be permitted to play. If a player arrives during an inning that inning is considered an inning on the bench.

- 5. On all batting and fielding substitutions, it behooves all scorekeepers, opposing managers and coaches to see to it that a forfeit does not occur. The League finds it reprehensible for a manager or coach to recognize that a forfeitable offense is about to occur and deliberately allow it to take place for their own advantage.
- 6. Disciplinary Substitutions Any disciplinary action taken against players during the course of the game for actions which occur during the game is the prerogative of the umpires, the League Commissioner, or Division VP. Managers will be permitted to make disciplinary substitutions only with approval from, after consultation with, the umpires.
- 7. Injury Substitutions An injured player may be substituted by the manager of the team involved. Injured players are permitted to return to the game at the end of any subsequent half-inning only with the concurrence of the umpire. AN INJURED PLAYER MAY ONLY RETURN TO THE GAME ONCE. If removed a second time, the injured player must remain on the bench for the remainder of the game. Teams with only nine players will be permitted to continue with the 8 players. Games will be suspended when an injury occurs to a team playing with 8 players if the injured player is unable to return to the game. In all divisions, if a player is injured while at bat and cannot complete his/her turn at bat, the next batter in the line-up will then bat and assume the ball and strike count of the injured batter. If a player leaves the game for whatever reason (illness, injury, ejection, disciplinary substitution, or personal reasons), and is unable to return, his/her subsequent turns at bat will NOT be an automatic out. A player who is injured while running the bases and who cannot continue will be substituted for by the player that made the last out. If a player has been injured before an out has been made in the game, then the last player in the batting order will be the substitute. There will be no pre-determined courtesy runners

allowed under any circumstances. A player who is injured while at bat, running the bases, or in the field, may have a substitution, as per the injury substitution rules. If the injured player cannot be safely removed from the field, the umpire will suspend the game time clock until play is able to be safely resumed.

- 8. Pitching Substitutions a player that is put on the bench during the defensive half of an inning, may reenter the game as a substitute during that half inning for the pitcher of record. The player returning to the game must be the pitcher of record for at least one batter and cannot be replaced until that batter's turn at bat is completed. Once the substitution is made, the pitcher of record must be immediately placed on the bench for the remainder of that half inning and may not enter the game as a substitute during that half inning under any circumstances if there is another player on the bench. If there is not another player on the bench, then he may only return during that half inning as a result of the exceptions provided in Rule 15.6 - Disciplinary Substitutions and/or Rule 15.7 - Injury Substitutions). If a player reenters the game as a pitcher, then the inning will not count as an inning sat for that returning player. However, the inning will count as an inning sat for the pitcher that was removed from the field and placed on the bench. A manager may only substitute the pitcher with a player from the bench once per inning.
- 9. If a player has not played in two successive games, the managers must, before the next game, notify the Division Vice President. The purpose of this rule is to prevent deliberate unsportsmanlike manipulation of the number of players participating in games. If the involved player misses the subsequent third (3rd) game without the above-mentioned notification, and if the Division Vice President's judgment is that the circumstances so warrant, then the third game and any such subsequent games will be forfeited to the other team.

Similarly, if a player permanently withdraws from a team, the manager must report this to the Division Vice President, or if not available, the Baseball Commissioner, within forty-eight (48) hours of being notified of the withdrawal. If this is not done, and the Division Vice President believes that the circumstances so warrant, a meeting of the Disciplinary Committee will be called to decide if any or all of that team's subsequent victories, beginning with the game in which the involved player was no longer on the team, should be forfeited.

10. If the situation arises that a player is injured to the extent that a replacement from the pool is assigned to a team replacing the injured player, then the newly assigned player is considered a TANDEM player to

the "injured inactive" player. The TANDEM player is subject to the same restrictions, if any, as originally specified at the draft for the "injured inactive" player. (For example, if the "injured inactive" player was a "no pitch" at the draft, then the TANDEM player is also a "no pitch", etc.) Should the injured player recover and rejoin the team, the player and his TANDEM will be considered a complete TANDEM for all remaining games, and must be substituted one for the other under all conditions. Tandem players must alternate in the batting order and in the field. When both players are physically able to play, and only one player is present for a scheduled game, the player present may play the entire game. If both players are pitchers, either the returning "injured inactive" player or the Tandem player may pitch in a game, but never both in the same game. The combined Tandem will be created as one player for the purposes of applying Rule 17. NOTE: Consult commissioners, for an appropriate ruling, each time a TANDEM situation arises. The commissioner may restrict or adjust the fielding substitution, including pitching, at his sole discretion.

- 11. If a player sustains an injury requiring more than first aid, such as a broken bone, concussion, a laceration requiring sutures, etc., the manager must notify a park official and the League President within 24 hours of the injury.
- 12. If a player has or develops a medical condition that could affect the player's or other players' safety or health, in the opinion of the commissioner, the commissioner may require written medical clearance before the player is permitted to play in the league.

RULE 16: THE GAME

- 1. An Official Game shall consist of six (6) innings or the time limit. If during the progress of any game, the home team, after at least 3 1/2 innings have been played is leading by 12 or more, or the visiting team, after at least 4 innings have been played is leading by 12 or more runs at the end of any complete inning, the umpire shall terminate the game in favor of the leading team.
 - (a) The playing time (time limit) shall be determined from the time the umpire calls "play ball" at the start of the game, until the third out is made by the home team at bat. In Juvenile Division there shall be a 2 hour time limit. Atom, Bantam and Midget Divisions will have a time limit of 1 hour and 45 minutes. There will be no time limit in any playoff or championship

games.

- **(b)** If the allotted playing time has elapsed during any game and:
 - (1) The LOSING team has had its turn at bat in the 4th inning or later, the umpire shall terminate the game in favor of the leading team.
 - (2) BOTH teams have had their turn at bat in the 4th inning and the score is tied, if field availability permits, the game shall be continued until one team is in the lead after a complete inning and is declared the winner.
 - (3) The LOSING team has not had its turn at bat in the 4th inning. If field availability permits, the game may be continued until a winner is declared after the LOSING team has batted in the fourth inning OR -
 - (4) The LOSING team has not had its turn at bat in the 4th inning and field availability does not permit continuance of the game THIS WILL BECOME A SUSPENDED GAME, and completed under Rule 16.3(d) below.
- 2. Time Between Innings In order to speed up play, there will be a maximum of two (2) minutes allowed between each half inning. The pitcher will not be allowed any additional time to complete his warmups. EXCEPTION: Whenever a new pitcher takes the mound, he will be allowed up to a maximum of eight (8) warm-up pitches. PENALTY If the team in the field is not ready when the umpire calls "play ball" he may award a count of ball one to the batter and continue to call balls to the batter until the team in the field is ready. If the batter is not ready to bat when the umpire calls "play ball" he may award a count of strike one on the batter and continue to call strikes until the batter is ready.
- 3. Suspended Game A game interrupted by rain prior to being an official game will be considered a suspended game. Once a game has started, the home plate umpire must wait at least 15 minutes before suspending the game. This is a judgment call by the umpire and not subject to protest. The safety of the players will be the primary concern. If or when play is resumed, any elapsed (rain delay) time will not count against the time limit. The remainder of the playing time (time limit) will apply.
 - (a) If a game that has gone long enough to be an official game is called because of inclement weather during an uncompleted inning, and the home team is ahead, the game ends and shall be an official game.
 - **(b)** If a game that has gone long enough to be an official game is called because of inclement weather

during an uncompleted inning, and the visiting team has scored one or more runs to tie the score, and the home team has not scored, or the visiting team has scored one or more runs to take the lead, or the game is tied, the game becomes a suspended game.

- (c) If a game that has gone long enough to be an official game is called because of natural darkness during an uncompleted inning, and the score is either tied or the visiting team is ahead, the game will be considered a suspended game. If the game is an official game and the home team is ahead at the time the game is called, the home team shall be declared the winner. This does not refer to failure of park lights.
- (d) A suspended game may be rescheduled to be resumed, at a later date, from the exact point of suspension of the original game. The completion of a suspended game is a continuation of the original game. The lineup and batting order of both teams shall be exactly the same as the lineup and batting order at the moment of suspension, subject to the rules governing substitutions and the following exceptions:
 - (1) When a game is suspended after the completion of the third inning, a player who was in the original lineup but not present for the rescheduled game, will be replaced by a player, if available, who was not present at the original game. If two or more players who were not present at the original game, are available for said substitution, they will act as tandem players under Rule 16.9 for the remainder of the game.
 - **(2)** When a game is suspended **prior** to the completion of the third inning, any player(s) who was not at the original game, but is at the continuation, will be inserted at the end of the batting order.
 - (3) When a game is suspended after the completion of the third inning, and a team was playing with only eight/nine players, it must complete the rescheduled game with only eight/nine players; moreover, the inserted player is not allowed to pitch.
 - **(4)** A player (pool player) who was not on the team roster when the game was suspended, may be used in any rescheduled game, even if said player has taken the place of a player who was missing from the original game.
 - (5) A player who was at the first game will not be allowed in the second game if he arrives after his next turn at bat. If arriving before his at bat but after resumption of play, he will replace the player who replaced him (if any).

- 4. Score book Each team is required to keep a score book for every game played, with the "official book" belonging to the home team. The home team's score book will list the date and time of the game, the batting order for both teams by last name and number, which cannot be changed once the game is started, with the exception of authorized substitutions. The score will be verified in each book at the completion of every half inning. In all Divisions starting from Bantam, ALL innings pitched by that team's pitcher, including pitch count, must be conspicuously and permanently recorded in the pitcher's own team's score book. (For record purposes, an inning pitched will be charged once the umpire declares "play ball" and the pitcher addresses the pitching rubber). This record must be made available to the opposing manager, if requested, prior to the start of any game. If the score book is not available, with records sufficient to determine the eligibility of a particular pitcher, then the game will be played, and the outcome will be determined by the Protest Committee, if requested by the offended manager. The scorekeepers are strongly urged to sit together.
- 5. Official Game Sheet In the Bantam, Midget & Juvenile divisions, umpires will complete an official game sheet for all games. The sheet will include the following information: an accurate roster of participating players from each team and the final score. These sheets will then be given to the division Vice President for review (or left at concession stand if the VP is unavailable).

RULE 17: PITCHING REGULATIONS

No player may pitch more than 10 innings in any seven (7) consecutive day period during the regular season or league playoffs. No player may pitch two (2) consecutive days.

1. Pitching Limitations: In the Bantam, Midget and Juvenile divisions, only one player per team may pitch three (3) innings in a game. Once a pitcher has pitched three (3) innings in a game, all remaining pitchers on that team are limited to two (2) innings for that game. The pitcher that is allowed to pitch three (3) innings can be a different pitcher from game to game.

2. Pitch counts

- **a.** Bantam There will be a limitation of 70 pitches or three (3) innings pitched per game or in a single day, whichever occurs first.
- **b.** Midget There will be a limitation of 80 pitches or

- three (3) innings pitched per game or in a single day, whichever occurs first.
- **c.** <u>Juvenile</u> There will be a limitation of 90 pitches or three (3) innings pitched per game or in a single day.
- d. Pitch counts will be maintained by each team (score keeper or coach). The head umpire will compare pitch counts with each team between innings. In the case of discrepancy, the home team count will be official. Once a player reaches the maximum number of pitches allowed, they must be removed from the game, although they may complete an at bat before being removed. If a pitcher throws beyond the maximum number of pitches allowed and is not removed, they must be removed once the umpire has been made aware that the limit has been exceeded. There will be no penalty in this situation.
- e. IN ALL BASEBALL DIVISIONS no player once removed from the mound may return to pitch in the same game. No inning pitched or re-entry regulation may be waived for any reason. PENALTY: Game forfeited for violation of any of the above rules.
- f. Where two siblings or family members were isolated in the draft and therefore placed on the same team and both players had each received pitching rankings of a "6, 5 or 4", then the following pitching limitations will be made on both players:
 - In the Bantam, Midget and Juvenile Divisions, the two siblings or family members will be limited to a combined total of five (5) innings pitched per game. Each pitcher is still subject to the division's restriction on the number of pitches thrown or number of innings pitched per game or in a single day.
- 3. Breaking balls in baseball are not permitted up to and including the Midget Division. If this infraction occurs, the umpire will declare the pitch a ball. If the batter hits the pitch, the manager of the offensive team may elect to decline the penalty and accept the play. Such election shall be made immediately at the end of the play. If the pitcher continues throwing breaking balls after being warned, he must be removed from the mound for the remainder of the game. Breaking balls are a delayed judgment call by the umpire. NOTE: A knuckle ball is not considered a breaking ball.
- **4.** In the Bantam Division only, there will be a NO BALK penalty in effect (warnings may be issued during the course of the season for educational purposes).
- **5.** In the Midget Division, each pitcher will be issued one balk warning per game for the first half of the season. After one warning, balks will be called.
- 6. Only one charged conference per pitcher, per inning

will be allowed, with the removal from the mound on the second charged conference. A visit to the mound by the team manager or other team representative between innings is not a charged conference. A visit to the mound will be charged if a manager or coach instructs the catcher to take time out and visit the mound. No visit will be charged if the catcher initiates this action on his own.

- 7. The pitcher must complete his warm-ups within the two (2) minutes allowed between each half inning pursuant to Rule 16.2. EXCEPTION: Whenever a new pitcher takes the mound, he will be allowed up to a maximum of eight (8) warm-up pitches.
- **8.** If a pitcher hits three (3) batters in the same inning, or four (4) batters in one game, he must be removed from the mound.
- **9.** A player becomes the pitcher of record only when he takes the mound and the umpire declares "Play ball!"
- **10.** A pitching appearance in any part of any one inning constitutes a complete inning of pitching regardless of whether the player throws a pitch to the plate, records an out or makes a pickoff at a base.

RULE 18: BASERUNNING

- 1. In the Midget Division, a runner at third base may lead off no more than twenty (20) feet after the pitcher has addressed the plate and until the ball leaves the pitcher's hand. PENALTY Runner is out no pitch. PENALTY Runner is out no pitch
- 2. In all BASEBALL Divisions, if a base runner attempts to steal home, and the batter swings at the pitched ball, the ball will be ruled DEAD; and BOTH the batter and the base runner from third base will be automatically OUT. If there are already two outs when this occurs, the batter will be declared the final out in the inning. NOTE: This rule is designed for the safety of the players and is not intended to discourage the "Squeeze play", (bunt) or the stealing of home, where allowed.
- 3. If the catcher of record is a base runner, and there are two (2) outs, he/she MAY be replaced as a base runner by the player who was declared the last out.
- 4. Collisions In ALL Divisions base runners must slide or avoid the tag in their own established base line if it's a close play. This rule exists to prevent injuries. This would also rule out incidental contact as a reason to enforce this rule. PENALTY - This is a judgment call by the umpire. Runner may be declared out and also may be ejected from the game. Obstruction by the defensive player does not negate

the collision rule. NOTE: The catcher, without the ball in his possession, has no right to block the pathway of the runner attempting to score. The base line belongs to the runner and the catcher should be there only when he is fielding a ball or when he already has the ball in his possession.

- **5.** A runner may not jump over a defensive player who is in the act of making a play on that runner.
- 6. In All Divisions, there will be NO head-first slides into home plate. PENALTY The runner is automatically declared out. Back door slides where the touching of home plate is done with a hand, or a slide to avoid the catcher and a reach for home plate with a hand is not considered a headfirst slide. This is a judgment call by the umpire and cannot be argued.
- 7. When using the double base, the following rules should be enforced:
 - **(a)** A batted ball hitting or bounding over the white portion is fair.
 - **(b)** A batted ball hitting or bounding over the colored portion is foul.
 - **(c)** Whenever a play is being made on the batterrunner, the defense must use the white portion and the batter-runner the colored portion.
 - **(d)** The defense may use the colored portion of any force out attempt from the foul side of first base.
 - **(e)** On an errant throw pulling the defense off the base into foul ground, the defense and the batter runner can use either the white or colored portion.

RULE 19: BATTING

- 1. The Florida High School speed-up rule applies to the Midget and Juvenile Divisions. That is, the batter is only allowed to leave the batters box after: A swing, foul ball, wild pitch, or play being attempted at any base. If the batter removes both feet from the box in any other instance, a strike is awarded to the pitcher.
- 2. In all Divisions, when in the umpire's judgment, a bat is intentionally thrown or the thrown bat hits a player or umpire, the batter will be declared out. The ball will be dead, and all runners must return to the base occupied prior to the pitch. Players will not be warned.
- **3.** The on-deck batter must stand in the on-deck circle behind the hitter.
- **4.** In all Divisions, only 1 offensive conference (called by the offensive team) will be permitted per inning.
- 5. Fake bunting followed by a full swing is illegal.

RULE 20: T-BALL TITANS

- 1. No keeping score scorekeeper will only track batting order and defensive positions in the field.
- **2.** Game will consist of 3 innings with a 1 hour 15 minute time limit whichever occurs first.
- Base distance 55 feet, pitching rubber distance 36 feet
- Ball will be hit off of tee all season and must travel 8 feet in order to be a fair ball
- Batter will receive four swings except when the last swing results in a foul ball at which time the batter will receive an additional swing.
- 6. No walks will be issued.
- **7.** Batters must wear helmet with facemask and chin strap.
- 8. Batter must take a full swing, no bunting allowed. (Judgment call by umpire) Penalty: Batter returns to tee and receives the remaining number of swings left in the at bat – runners return to base held before swing. If the infraction occurs on the last swing, the batter shall receive one additional swing.
- **9.** Base runners may not leave the base until the ball is hit no leads or base stealing allowed. Penalty-dead ball if hit, runners return to bases.
- 10. All teams will play with their entire roster in the field. There should be no more than 7 players in the infieldThe two players in the pitcher's position must remain in the vicinity of and behind the pitching plate until the ball is hit. Vicinity is defined as within ten (10) feet of the pitching rubber. There will be no catcher.
- **11.** The ball remains alive until the ball is held by an infielder in fair territory of the infield area and all play has ceased.
- **12.** The infield fly rule (automatic out) does not apply. The ball must be caught for an out.
- **13. Batting -** The entire batting order (not to exceed the maximum number of players that are present) will bat each inning. The inning shall end even if there are less than three (3) outs.
- 14. SECOND HALF OF SEASON Batters who are ready for coach pitch may have no more than three (3) balls pitched to them, except when the last pitch is hit foul at which time, they will receive another

pitch. If no hit is made, then the batter must use the tee.

- **15. SECOND HALF OF SEASON** Runners who are tagged or forced out will return to the dugout. This is to prepare players for knowing what to do in Coach Pitch.
- 16. No on deck batters allowed.
- 17. During a game a team is limited to one (1) manager and three (3) coaches (four adults). All managers and coaches must remain in the dugout except for the purposes of coaching first or third base or coaching the outfield. Outfield coaches (maximum of two) must remain behind the out of play line. All equipment must remain in the dugout.
- **18.** Runner who has past the halfway mark on base path will be awarded the next base when play has ceased if not runner goes back to previous base.
- 19. Feet first sliding only.

Note: There will be no draft of players. Players will be assigned to teams at the sole discretion of the T-ball Vice President.

RULE 21: ATOM COACH PITCH

- Coaches will pitch all season. Coaches must pitch overhand and his/her foot must be in contact with the rubber. If a coach elects to pitch while kneeling, then his/her knee must be in contact with the rubber. The batter will receive a maximum of three (3) strikes or five (5) pitches except when the last pitch is hit foul at which time he will receive another pitch. If a hit ball strikes the pitcher/coach, it will be ruled a no pitch and all runners must return to their original bases.
 - a. <u>Use of a Tee –</u> (first half of season only) the first time through the batting order only, if the batter strikes out either after a 3rd strike or 5th pitch, a tee will be brought in and the batter will be given one (1) swing to put the ball in play. A swing and a miss or a foul ball will be declared an out. The tee will not be available once the leadoff batter comes to bat for the second time in the game.
- 2. All teams will play with ten (10) defensive players, four (4) of whom must be in the outfield (as defined by the umpire) prior to the ball being pitched. The player in the pitcher's position must remain in the vicinity and behind the pitching plate until the ball is hit. Vicinity is defined as ten (10) feet from the pitching rubber.
- 3. No balls will be called or walks issued.
- 4. Bunting is NOT allowed. Whenever a batter bunts the

- ball, or attempts to bunt the ball, the batter will be automatically declared "out", and any base runner(s) may NOT advance.
- Base runner(s) may not lead off any base until the ball passes the plane of the batter, nor may they advance on a wild pitch or passed ball. Base stealing is NOT permitted. PENALTY - Runner(s) out - no pitch.
- The ball remains alive until the umpire calls "time".
 Time will be called when the ball is held up by an infielder over his head in fair territory of the infield area, or, in the judgment of the umpire, all play has ceased.
- 7. The infield fly rule (automatic out) does not apply. The ball must be caught for an out.
- 8. The fifteen (15) run rule will be in effect after 4 innings. Rule 16-1. does not apply for Atoms.
- 9. In any one (1) inning, if the entire batting order (not to exceed the maximum number of players that are present) comes to bat, the inning shall end even if there are less than three (3) outs. EXCEPTION: In the sixth (6) and any subsequent innings, three (3) outs must be made.
- 10. During a game, a team is limited to one manager and three coaches (including the scorekeeper). All managers and coaches are urged to remain in the dugout except for the purpose of pitching, coaching first or third base, or coaching the outfield. All managers, coaches and outfield coaches must stay off the playing field and must remain behind the outof-play line. All equipment must also be in the dugout.
- 11. Games shall be six (6) innings or 1 hour and 45 minutes in length. There will be no time limits during playoffs.
- 12. There will be a maximum of three (3) minutes allowed between each half inning. If the team in the field is not ready when the umpire calls "play ball" he may award the batter first base. The Manager of the team at bat may choose to allow his batter to remain at the plate and hit. If the batter is not ready when the umpire calls "play ball", he may award a count of strike one on the batter and continue to call strikes until the batter is ready.

RULE 22: BANTAM

1. No pitcher shall pitch more than three innings or exceed 70 pitches per game or in a single day, whichever occurs first.

- 2. No defensive player may position himself closer than 15 feet inside the base or baseline toward home plate from any position, unless the batter commits himself to a bunting position. PENALTY - After one (1) warning, a player violating this rule will not be allowed to play any position in the infield for the remainder of that game.
- 3. Base runners will not be permitted to lead and shall not be permitted to steal until the pitched ball crosses home plate. If the base runner leaves the bag, either intentionally or unintentionally, before the ball crosses home plate, he will be declared out by the umpire.
- Steals may occur once the ball has crossed home plate
- 5. No runner may score from third base to home unless he is either:
 - a. Forced
 - b. Advanced by a hit ball
 - c. There is a pick-off play by any player at any base

NOTE: A fake throw does not constitute a pick-off play. A throw from the catcher to any base is considered a pick-off play.

- **6.** The infield fly rule (automatic out) does not apply. The ball must be caught for the out.
- 7. Whenever a third strike is not legally caught by the catcher, the batter shall be automatically declared "out", and any base runner(s) on first or second base may advance at their own risk.
- **8.** A base runner stealing 3rd base is not allowed to continue home regardless of the throw from the catcher. The intent is to promote throws to 3rd base from the catcher without fear of giving up a run.
- **9.** A base runner may advance only the 1 base when attempting a steal regardless of the throw from the catcher.

AWARDS

All Baseball Divisions each receive individual 1st and 2nd place trophies. In Atom Coach Pitch and T-Ball there will also be participation awards for the remaining teams.

CAMILLE CILLI AWARD

This award will be presented to the player who has demonstrated the greatest improvement in overall baseball skills, as expressed in improved player ratings, present impact to his team and his continued exhibition of a positive attitude. To be eligible, the player must be in the second year of the Juvenile division and be completing at least his third consecutive year in the Howard Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association.

. 10 O.F	<u> </u>		
2007	Bryan Horne	2013	Ryan Young
	Mike Kletkotka		Nate Wasserman
2008	Josh Levitats	2014	Alec Lanzas
	Mike Ongay	2015	Simon Lucas
2009	Doug Halasz		Ryan Doll
	Mark Maguire	2016	Matt Esquijerosa
2010	Chris Perse		
	Chris Dupont		
2011	Alex Bruck		
2012	Alex Hartnett		

COACHES AWARD

This award will be presented to a second year Juvenile player who exhibits those exemplary qualities universally desired by coaches.

1984	Jose Jimenez	2005	Ryan Dandes
1985	Dan Santella		Robert Gordon
1986	David Sinnes	2006	Anthony Spagna
1987	Ryan Rothenberg		Junigar Herrera
	Billy Turso	2007	Casey Orzechowicz
1988	Doug Mientkiewicz		Matthew Stephens
1989	Richard Burt	2008	Jake Georgiades
1990	Byron Brown		Justin Guzman
1991	Hank Amundson	2009	Alex Smith
1992	Marcos Beaton		Christian Molina
	Ryan Ennis	2010	Nick Pinto
1993	Francis Farnum		Taylor Lang
1994	Mitch Rodhe	2011	Kieran Foreman
1995	Michael Tarkan		Jake Oliver
1996	Philip Smith	2012	Nicholas Font
	Chardon Stafford	2013	Johnny Stathopulos
1997	Michael Dolgos		Justin Castano
	Jeff Cook	2014	Will Fairman
1998	Ben Zeskind		Neil Kotum
1999	Justin Shopay	2015	Patrick Mormile
	Phillip Lopez		Colin Hayes
2000	Carlo Mazzei	2016	Blake Garcia
	Andy Megna		Ethan Bluh
2001	Danny Schwartz		
	Stefan Hertel		
2002	Adrian Diaz		
	Ken Quattrocchi		
2003	Jake MacNair		
	Jake Gomberg		

SAM RICHIE MEMORIAL AWARD

This award is named after one of the founders of the Howard-Palmetto "Khoury" league and a man who was a very successful manager - a "Winner". This is the essence of this award — to recognize that last year Juvenile player who has demonstrated those attributes of sportsmanship, athletic ability, and leadership that not only inspire his own teammates to perform to the best of their abilities, but also earn the respect and admiration of the opposing players - in effect, a "most valuable player".

Although the player's performance in previous years may be considered in the selection process, it is his achievement as a last year Juvenile player that should be the major consideration.

1972	Grant Miller	1999	Kim Gomez
1973	Robin Willy	2000	Curt Bradley
1974	Mike Busciano		Robert Bernal
1975	Kirk Youmans	2001	Adolfo Reutlinger
1976	Rody Rodriguez	2002	Shawn Alam Č
1977	Steve De Loach		Omar Alam
1978	Bobby Shaw	2003	Sean Emory
1979	Dick Smith		Brian Moraguez
1980	Roy Pollack	2004	Chris Antonelli
1981	Kyle Balch	2005	Casey Delgado
1982	Brad Smith	2006	Brian Roache
1983	Mike Samway		Kevin Fennell
1984	Mike Perry	2007	Nick Pearson
1985	Mike Singer		Duke Porter
1986	Charlie Greene	2008	Cameron Fanelli
1987	Ricky De Toto		Alex Urrutia
1988	Nick Kouloukas	2009	Dakota Ligman
1989	Don Mientkiewicz		Brandon Kacer
1990	Dan Perkins	2010	Zach Polito
1991	Matthew Bell		Matt Majewski
1992	Myles Feder	2011	Ian Exposito
1993	J.B. Burns	2012	Matt Espinosa
	David Pabalate		Carter Nash
1994	Lael Shapiro	2013	Blake Miller
1995	Ross Goldstein		Keaton Zargham
1996	David Williams	2014	Matt Turner
1997	Martin Alvarez	2015	Kiley Kross
1998	Mike Hill	2016	Grant Foreman

JOEL JANKOWITZ MEMORIAL AWARD

This award is presented in memory of a man who was a manager and officer in the Howard-Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association. His personal attributes of leadership, enthusiasm, dedication, and sportsmanship should be demonstrated by the recipient of this award.

To be eligible, the player must be in the second year Juvenile division and have played in the Howard-Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association for eight (8) consecutive seasons. This individual's personal characteristics displayed throughout these eight years shall be considered in his selection.

1981 Scott Simp 1982 Todd Murr 1983 Paul Arnol 1984 William De 1985 Dan Sacco 1986 Greg Katsi 1987 Brett Blach 1988 Buster Dui	ay d 2006 ssmond o 2007 kas 2008	David Berg Mike Jones Mike Papaianni John Antonelli
1983 Paul Arnol 1984 William De 1985 Dan Sacco 1986 Greg Katsi 1987 Brett Blach 1988 Buster Dui	d 2006 ssmond o 2007 kas 2008	6 Mike Jones Mike Papaianni 7 John Antonelli 8 Nat Jones
1984 William De 1985 Dan Sacco 1986 Greg Katsi 1987 Brett Blach 1988 Buster Dui	smond 2007 kas 2008	Mike Papaianni 7 John Antonelli 3 Nat Jones
1985 Dan Sacco 1986 Greg Katsi 1987 Brett Blach 1988 Buster Dui	2007 kas 2008	7 John Antonelli 3 Nat Jones
1986 Greg Kats 1987 Brett Blach 1988 Buster Du	kas 2008	B Nat Jones
1987 Brett Blach 1988 Buster Dui		
1988 Buster Du	ner	LT Evans
		J. I . E Valis
1000 Dalam Mills	man 2009	Austin Miller
1989 Brian Mills	tein	Colin Zargham
1990 Jim Diehl	2010) Scott Turner
1991 Jeffrey Ma	rshall	Brett Toister
1992 Ryan Balte	er 2011	l Brendan
1993 Joel Taylo	ſ	Richardson
1994 Mike Ange	r 2012	2 Brent Teller
Greg Love	lady 2013	B Ryan Booth
1995 Sean Gorr	nan	Vincent Leone
1996 Patrick Jef	fers 2014	1 Cameron McGahee
1997 Andrew Co	ohn 2015	5 Noah Milian
1998 Jonathan I	√lcLean	Jake Sheeder
1999 Brett Grav	es 2016	6 Danny King
2000 Travis Nice	ely	
2001 Matthew S	chwartz	
2002 Kenny Dul	е	
2003 Mike McDo	nald	
Jayson De	lacruz	
2004 Brent Loza	ino	
Jim Diehl Jeffrey Ma 1991 Jeffrey Ma 1992 Ryan Balte 1993 Joel Taylo 1994 Mike Ange Greg Love 1995 Sean Gorr 1996 Patrick Jef 1997 Andrew Co 1998 Jonathan I 1999 Brett Grav 2000 Travis Nico 2001 Matthew S 2002 Kenny Dul 2003 Mike McDo Jayson De	tein 2010 rshall er 2011 r 2013 r 2013 nan fers 2014 ohn 2015 vlcLean es 2016 ely chwartz ke nald lacruz	Austin Miller Colin Zargham Co

The recipients of the Coaches Award, Sam Richie Memorial Award, Joel Jankowitz Memorial Award and the Joe & Camille Cilli Award will be selected by an Awards Committee to be appointed by the President. The Committee is not limited to but must include the Baseball Commissioner and the Juvenile Vice President.

WAYNE MOORE MEMORIAL AWARD

This award is presented in memory of a Howard-Palmetto Baseball-Softball Association coach. His personal attributes of affection, guidance, enthusiasm and leadership should be demonstrated by the adult recipients of this award. NOTE: The recipient of the above award will be selected by an Awards Committee consisting of previous winners.

1990	Bob Heggy	2004	Howard Levrant
1991	Cessy Rubinson	2005	Gary Alvo
1992	Joe Cilli		Linda Ketchum
1993	Bill Shaw	2006	Rick Shore
1994	Bob Hingston	2007	John Buchholz
1995	Dennis Lacina	2008	Andy Wasserstrom
1996	Pat Wilson	2009	Grant Miller
1997	Camille Cilli	2010	Marina Demers
1998	Bob Slater	2011	Steve Schwartz
1999	Bob Rachlin	2012	Randy Yackee
2000	Frank Dodge	2013	Karl Sturge
2001	Kim Deas	2014	Michelle Lopez
2002	Bob Schroer	2015	Rick Teller
2003	Janet Capparelli	2016	Manny Exposito